



Dawn of a New Era?

Assessment of the United Nations Human Rights Council and its Year of Reform

A report by UN Watch

United Nations Headquarters May 7, 2007

© 2007, United Nations Watch Case Postale 191 1211 Geneva 20 Switzerland www.unwatch.org tel: +41-22-734-1472 fax: +41-22-734-1613

Dawn of a New Era?

Assessment of the UN Human Rights Council and its Year of Reform

May 7, 2007

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	2
Methodology	5
Key HRC Actions on Human Rights and Democracy	
Why Key Votes Were Mostly on Negative Initiatives	
Findings	7
HRC Membership	8
HRC Treatment of Specific Countries	
Statements in the HRC on the World's Worst Abuses	
HRC Response to Islamic Campaign on "Defamation of Religion"	15
HRC Protection of Independent Human Rights Experts and Professionals	
Other Meaningful HRC Votes	17
Ongoing HRC Institution Building	19
Recommendations	
Table 1: Key HRC Actions on Human Rights and Democracy	22
Table 2: Scorecard of HRC Members on Key Actions	26
Table 3: The HRC's Genocide Test and the Williams Report	
Table 4: The HRC's Genocide Test and Members' Statements	
Table 5: Statements in the HRC on the World's Worst Abuses	
Table 6: HRC Voting Record	43

Executive Summary

The new UN Human Rights Council was inaugurated last year amid great fanfare and high expectations. Proponents hailed it as the "dawn of a new era" for the promotion and protection of human rights. The Council has now met in four regular sessions and four special sessions, and will soon hold the final session of its first year. How has it performed so far? Has the Council met the criteria set by former Secretary-General Annan, who envisioned a new body comprised of members with solid records of human rights commitment, one that would eschew the politicization and selectivity that so discredited its predecessor, the Commission on Human Rights?

Sadly, despite having some promise on paper, the new Council has not been an improvement over the much-derided Commission. In some ways, it has even been worse. Members are supposed to be elected based on their human rights records, yet the Council includes persistent violators, and after the upcoming elections is expected to include several more. It is supposed to objectively and non-selectively promote and protect human rights worldwide, yet it has ignored the world's worst abusers while repeatedly condemning only one country in the entire world—Israel. It is supposed to strengthen the UN's human rights mechanisms, yet threatens now to erode the system and eliminate many of the independent experts.

In this report, we assess the 2006-2007 Council's record by considering those votes and actions that were the most significant to Council stakeholders. These include most prominently resolutions addressing specific countries, as well as other resolutions implicating bedrock democratic principles of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Our analysis shows that, although slightly more than half of the Council's 47 members are free democracies, only a minority of these countries—about a dozen—have consistently voted in defense of the values and principles that the Council is supposed to promote. Instead, the body has been dominated by an increasingly brazen alliance of repressive regimes seeking not only to spoil needed reforms but to undermine the few meaningful mechanisms of UN human rights protection that already exist. Their goal is impunity for systematic abuses. Unfortunately, too many democracies have thus far gone along with the spoilers, out of loyalty to regional groups and other political alliances.

All is not yet lost, but the Council's free democracies must unite and redouble their efforts to ensure that the Council can live up to its promises. The upcoming June session, at which vital decisions on the Council's mechanisms are going to be made, will be critical. As signified by the image on the cover of this report, victims worldwide—including prisoners of conscience like Aung San Suu Kyi—continue to count time while the Council neglects their plight. If the most damaging proposals are adopted—such as the elimination of the human rights monitors for specific countries—the prognosis for the Council will be grim.

Introduction

This report assesses the work of the new UN Human Rights Council (the HRC or the Council) as it approaches the end of a year of reform that began with the Council's inauguration in June 2006. During this time period, the Council held four regular sessions, four special sessions and numerous informal meetings on the process of institution-building.

The Council was created by the UN General Assembly in March 2006 to replace the Commission on Human Rights as the UN's main human rights body. The Commission was led in its early years by such illustrious figures as Eleanor Roosevelt and Réné Cassin. It gave the world the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights and the system of independent UN human rights experts that still exists today. Unfortunately, however, the Commission became discredited over time by its poor membership and performance. In its later years, its members included such notorious human rights violators as Cuba, Saudi Arabia, and Sudan. In 2003, Libya was elected as chair. Its annual meetings ignored most of the world's worst abuses while focusing selectively on a handful of countries.¹

The situation had so deteriorated that, in March 2005, Secretary-General Kofi Annan, following a report by a high level panel of eminent figures, declared the Commission to be suffering from a fatal "credibility deficit"—one that was casting "a shadow on the reputation of the United Nations system as a whole." Mr. Annan cited the Commission's declining professionalism and decried a reality where countries sought membership of the Commission "not to strengthen human rights but to protect themselves against criticism or to criticize others." The Commission, said Annan, was undermined by the "politicization of its sessions" and the "selectivity of its work." Indeed, "politicization and selectivity," according to Mr. Annan, were nothing less than "hallmarks of the Commission's existing system." Accordingly, Mr. Annan proposed far-ranging reform and the replacement of the Commission with a new body. When the new Council was created, Mr. Annan

¹ At the Commission, over a 40-year period, 30 percent of the resolutions condemning specific states for human rights violations were against Israel—and in its last years, the figure rose to 50 percent. In 2005, for example, the Commission adopted four resolutions against Israel and four resolutions against all other states in the world. (Belarus, Cuba, Burma/Myanmar, and North Korea were the subject of one resolution each.)

² Explanatory Note by the Secretary General, Addendum 1 to the Report of the Secretary-General, "In larger freedom: towards development, security and human rights for all," May 23, 2005 (A/59/2005/Add.1).

³ Report of the Secretary-General, "In larger freedom: towards development, security and human rights for all," March 21, 2005 (A/59/2005). Mr. Annan's proposed reforms were stronger than those that were ultimately enacted. He envisioned a smaller, more efficient body, with a strengthened mandate and a more credible membership, elected by a two-thirds vote. Six months of contentious negotiations in the General Assembly, however, resulted in the watered-down compromise text that became Resolution 60/251, the March 2006 resolution creating the Council. UN Watch

expressed his hope that it would avoid the "selectivity and politicization" that had characterized the Commission. He specifically cited the most extreme example by urging the Council not to focus on Israel alone.⁴

More than a year after the Council was created, and almost a year after its inaugural first session, this report asks: How has it performed? In what direction is it headed? Is the Council remedying the material defects of its predecessor as cited by Secretary-General Annan?

To be sure, the Council's founding was attended by exuberant optimism on the part of the UN's highest officials. The 47-member body was hailed, in the words of UN High Commissioner for Human Rights Louise Arbour, as "the dawn of a new era." "I claim that it is clearly better," said General Assembly President Jan Eliasson, who oversaw the reform negotiations. He called Resolution 60/251, the March 2006 General Assembly resolution that created the Council, "a new beginning for the promotion and protection of human rights." He described the Council as a body which would be based on "dialogue and cooperation" and would be "principled, effective and fair."

Governments and NGOs shared this optimism. France's UN envoy Jean Marc de La Sablière expressed confidence that the Council would be "more active, more reactive and more demanding," saying "it shows we are serious about reform." Swedish Prime Minister Goran Persson and Mexican President Vincente Fox described the Council's creation as "an historic

supported Mr. Annan's stronger reforms and was disappointed by the lesser changes enacted in Resolution 60/251. See, e.g., H. Neuer quoted in Steven Edwards, "Canada backs new UN Human Rights body," *National Post*, March 16, 2006 ("The council falls short of what we in the human rights community have requested for many years. It's not what Kofi Annan asked for a year ago. And we're concerned that in June the faces around the table will look awfully familiar"); UN Watch, "New Human Rights Council Proposal Falls Short," Press Release, February 23, 2006.

⁴ Secretary-General Kofi Annan, Statement at Press Conference, June 15, 2006.

⁵ Address to Human Rights Council, June 19, 2006.

⁶ "The World Tonight", BBC Radio, May 10, 2006.

⁷ Mr. Eliasson further described the Council as "a body whose members would uphold the highest standards in the promotion and protection of human rights," and as "a body that would advance the founding principles that were initiated by the General Assembly with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights." Official Record of General Assembly Plenary Meeting (A/60/PV.72), March 15, 2006.

^{8 &}quot;UN General Assembly overwhelmingly endorses new rights council," Agence France Presse, March 15, 2006.

achievement" that would "improve the life conditions for millions of people." Swiss Foreign Minister Micheline Calmy-Rey, whose web page describes the Council as a Swiss initiative, said that the creation of the Council was a "major advance in the UN's history of protecting human rights." Many leading human rights NGOs likewise celebrated the new Council as "a significant improvement." Evidence warning to the contrary tended to be dismissed. 12

Regrettably, the Council so far has failed to meet the basic standards set by Secretary-General Annan, or to live up to the promises of Resolution 60/251 and the hopes of victims and reform advocates around the world. The Council's members are supposed to be elected based on their human rights records and commitments. Yet the first Council, while including a slightly higher proportion of democracies than the old Commission, still includes persistent violators like China, Cuba, Russia and Saudi Arabia. It is supposed to promote and protect human rights worldwide "without distinction of any kind and in a fair and equal manner" and to base its work on "the principles of universality, impartiality, objectivity, and non-selectivity." To date, however, the only country in the entire world that it has condemned for human rights violations has been Israel.

⁹ "Article by the Swedish Prime Minister Göran Persson and Mexico's President Vincente Fox," April 3, 2006. Council President Luis de Alba of Mexico described the Council as "a new institution able to respond to the expectations of the world's peoples." Address to Human Rights Council, June 19, 2006.

¹⁰ Address to Human Rights Council, June 19, 2006. The resolution created an institution "with greater legitimacy," said Peter Maurer, Switzerland's UN ambassador. "We do not share the intransigent and maximalist approaches of certain delegations, who want to make us believe that they are the only ones fighting for an ambitious human rights machinery," he added. Official Record of General Assembly Plenary Meeting (A/60/PV.72), March 15, 2006.

¹¹ Human Rights Watch, "New Rights Council Offers Hope for Victims," Press Release, March 15, 2006; see also Amnesty International, "UN Human Rights Council: A Victory for Human Rights Protection," Press Release, March 15, 2006 (welcoming the Council's creation as "an historic step toward strengthening the U.N.'s human rights machinery" and "a victory for human rights protection around the world"); Amnesty International, About the Proposed Human Rights Council, March 13, 2006 (stating that "[t]he new Human Rights Council would offer far-reaching, long-lasting and positive opportunities to further human rights protection"); NGOs Make Urgent Appeal to U.N. Member States to Back Human Rights Council Resolution, March 9, 2006 (63 NGOs—including Amnesty International, the Conference of NGOs (CONGO), Human Rights First, Human Rights Watch, the International Commission of Jurists, and the International Service for Human Rights, among many others—calling the draft that became Resolution 60/251 "a sound basis to strengthen the U.N.'s human rights machinery," and urging its adoption).

¹² Following the election of Council members on May 9, 2006, a BBC Radio interviewer asked Human Rights Watch executive director Kenneth Roth whether he was concerned that a majority of Council members had voted in the General Assembly against action for the victims of Darfur. "They have to condemn Sudan for what's going on in Darfur," replied Mr. Roth, "and I have every confidence that they will." The World Tonight, *BBC Radio*, May 10, 2006. More than one year later, they still have not.

Improvement is still possible, particularly through the universal mechanism for reviewing the human rights records of all countries equally. But the Council's record so far is profoundly disappointing. Sadly, all existing evidence indicates that this situation will continue in the foreseeable future.

Methodology

Key HRC Actions on Human Rights and Democracy

To assess the Council's performance, we focused on its most meaningful human rights actions. By meaningful, we mean resolutions and motions that were widely considered among HRC stakeholders to be important and were treated as such by members through their statements and actions. Resolutions on technical issues and those that passed by consensus, without significant debate, were not considered meaningful for the purposes of our evaluation.

The most important class of resolutions for diplomats and human rights activists has always been the "name and shame" votes where a specific country is censured. Out of more than 190 UN member states, the Council's predecessor body each year typically censured only five or six. The power of such denunciations in the world of human rights and the arena of international relations cannot, therefore, be underestimated. Large and small states alike exert considerable diplomatic efforts to avoid censure. Even if they are major violators of human rights, powerful states, such as China or Russia, have routinely been shielded from condemnation. The same has held true for those that belong to large and powerful alliances—e.g., Zimbabwe, which belongs to the African Group and the Non-Aligned Movement (NAM), a political bloc of developing countries; or Saudi Arabia, a member of NAM, the Arab League, and the Organization of the Islamic Conference (OIC), an alliance of 57 Muslim nations.

To date, there have been 12 country-specific HRC resolutions: nine censures of Israel and three non-condemnatory resolutions on Sudan. ¹³ There was also one vote on a set of proposed amendments on Sudan. Other meaningful votes concerned:

_

¹³ At its September 2006 second regular session, the Council also enacted consensus and consensual resolutions on "technical cooperation with the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights" in Afghanistan and Nepal, but these do not meet our standards for meaningfulness described above.

- A successful motion by Islamic states to postpone three thematic resolutions sponsored by Canada, introduced solely out of retaliatory spite after Canada voted "no" on the Islamic group's fifth and sixth censures of Israel.
- Two Islamic-group texts on "incitement to racial and religious hatred" and "combating defamation of religions." These resolutions seek to suppress perceived offenses against Islam—and even to justify violent reactions thereto—and are inconsistent not only with free speech protections but with the fundamental principle that international human rights law protects individuals, not religions.
- A resolution sponsored by the African Group imposing a "code of conduct" on human rights monitors and a resolution by China for the "Like Minded Group" limiting the independence of the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights. Both of these are acts of intimidation by regimes interested in hiding their abuses, and the way in which countries voted demonstrates their commitment to protecting the UN's non-political human rights mechanisms.
- A resolution by China and the Like Minded Group on "globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights" suggesting, nonsensically, that globalization negatively impacts all human rights.
- A Cuban-sponsored resolution requiring the Secretary-General and the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights to consider and report to the Council on "the negative impact on populations" of "unilateral coercive measures"—a political jab at the United States for its trade embargo against Cuba.

Why Key Votes Were Mostly on Negative Initiatives

Regrettably, the list of votes at the Human Rights Council that met our criteria for meaningfulness includes more counter-productive initiatives by repressive governments than positive initiatives by the traditional, rights-supporting democracies. This is a consequence of two factors.

First, the positive initiatives that one used to see at the former Commission on Human Rights—country resolutions that objectively addressed at least some of the world's worst abuses, or

¹⁴ The "Like Minded Group" at the UN consists of Algeria, Bangladesh, Belarus, Bhutan, China, Cuba, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Iran, Malaysia, Myanmar, Nepal, Pakistan, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Viet Nam, and Zimbabwe.

pro-democracy resolutions by the fledgling Democracy Caucus—have been almost entirely absent, the Darfur situation being the exception. Historically, the democracies that initiated these actions were the United States or members of the European Union. However, the United States is not a Council member, and the European Union has for the most part abandoned initiating any country-specific resolutions in the Council's first year. The EU says that this is a necessary trade-off to win the support of NAM—which is currently led by Cuba and holds more than half of the Council seats—in creating all of the Council's new mechanisms. However, it must also be noted that the EU, like other countries, has always been reticent to pursue politically sensitive matters at the Commission as well.

Second, and quite significantly, a consequence of the reform process—unintended by its initial proponents—was that proportional representation of Western democracies was diminished, and that of other alliances increased. In addition to NAM, the group of Islamic states was a big winner and, during recent hostilities in the Middle East, it repeatedly utilized the HRC to score propaganda points against Israel.

Findings

As explained above, we assessed 20 key Council actions, set forth in **Table 1: Key HRC Actions on Human Rights and Democracy.** On these actions, we scored each Council member's position as positive, negative, or neutral. A positive position was assessed as 1 point, a negative position as -1 point, and a neutral position as 0 points. ¹⁵

Sadly, only 13 of the 47 Council members received positive total scores. Among these, Canada came in at first place, with 14 of a maximum of 20 points. In second place, with scores of 10 points, were 7 of the Council's 8 European Union members: the Czech Republic, Finland, Germany, the Netherlands, Poland, Romania, and the United Kingdom. France (the eighth EU member) and Ukraine came in third, with scores of 9 points. Other countries receiving positive scores were Switzerland (7 points), Japan (5 points), and South Korea (1 point).

¹⁵ In general, a neutral position was abstaining or being absent. However, for the March 2007 session's consensus resolution on Darfur, we gave all Council members a zero score. This is because, although we do not view this resolution, overall, as a positive step for human rights in Darfur, it nevertheless is not entirely negative. It does keep the situation in Darfur on the HRC's agenda for its next session and it does leave open the possibility of future Council action to improve the human rights situation in Darfur, including by implementing the recommendations of the Darfur Assessment Mission's report.

The remaining 34 Council members received negative scores ranging from -3 to -16 points. The 17 members receiving the worst score included four free democracies—Indonesia, Mali, Senegal, and South Africa—that deserve a particular mark of shame. India, another free democracy, also scored near the bottom, with -15 points. The scores of all Council members, as well as their regional and political group memberships, are shown in descending order on **Table 2: Scorecard of HRC Members on Key Actions**. ¹⁶

HRC Membership

Before examining the key HRC actions in more detail, we must explain the way Council members are selected and the body's current membership. The topic is particularly apt as the Council prepares for its second annual elections.¹⁷

The Council's 47 members are elected by an absolute majority (in 2006, 96 votes) of the UN General Assembly. Although the Council's founding resolution provides that Council members should be chosen based on their human rights records and commitments, it imposes a significant structural constraint: the Council's 47 seats are divided by a set formula among the UN's five regional groups, with 13 for the African Group, 13 for the Asian Group, 6 for the Eastern European Group, 8 for the Latin American and Caribbean Group ("GRULAC"), and 7 for the Western European and Others Group ("WEOG"). Regional allotment was the practice in the Commission as well, but a re-distribution of seats reduced WEOG's representation in the Council, a loss for democracies.

As a result, the current Council is 47% non-democracies.¹⁸ Moreover, it includes nine countries—19% of its members—ranked "Not Free" by Freedom House in its 2006 worldwide survey of political rights and civil liberties.¹⁹ Four of these nine—China, Cuba, Russia, and Saudi

¹⁶ All Council members' votes on the key actions are shown on Table 6: HRC Voting Record.

¹⁷ See www.unwatch.org for the joint evaluation of 2007 candidates by Freedom House and UN Watch.

¹⁸ Of the 47 Council members, only 25—a slight majority of 53%—are Free democracies under Freedom House's standards. This is a small step forward, compared to the 2006 Commission's figure of 45%, but it is not a significant break from the past. In addition, in terms of press freedom—a key indicator of a country's respect for individual liberty, human rights, and the rule of law—only 15 of the new Council members (32%) ranked in the top third of the Reporters without Borders (*Reporters Sans Frontières*) 2005 worldwide press freedom index. A larger proportion—18 members, or 38%—ranked, disappointingly, in the bottom third of the index. For more information on members' human rights

^{38%—}ranked, disappointingly, in the bottom third of the index. For more information on members' human rights records, see UN Watch Statement on the UN Human Rights Council, May 15, 2006 (available under "Statements and Letters" at www.unwatch.org).

¹⁹ These nine are: Algeria, Azerbaijan, Cameroon, China, Cuba, Pakistan, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, and Tunisia.

Arabia—are also among Freedom House's 2006 "Worst of the Worst" human rights abusing regimes, as well as among the five countries UN Watch identified, before the May 9, 2006 election, as particular threats to the legitimacy of the Council. Unfortunately, all four received well over the 96-vote threshold that was supposed to prevent human rights violators from winning Council membership. Saudi Arabia, for example, won 126 votes, close to two-thirds of the General Assembly.

The non-democracies control the Council's two largest regional groups, Africa and Asia, which together hold a majority (26, or 55%) of the Council's 47 seats. Only 30% of the Asian Group members, and 38% of those from the African Group, are Free countries under Freedom House's standards. By contrast, the GRULAC members are 63% Free; the Eastern European Group members, 66% Free; and the WEOG members, fully 100% Free.

NAM, a political alliance of developing countries that includes many repressive regimes and is currently led by Cuba, holds a majority—57%—of the Council seats. The OIC, a political alliance of Muslim countries led in the Council by Pakistan, holds 36%, or 17 seats. This has proved to be consequential because one-third of the Council, or 16 members, can convene special sessions—which the OIC did three times in the Council's first five months, all to criticize Israel. OIC countries also dominate, and as a result chair, both the African and Asian Groups that together make up the Council's majority. In all three respects—percentage of total membership, percentage of the African Group, and percentage of the Asian Group—the OIC wields more power in the Council than it does in the UN General Assembly. Regrettably, the OIC has used its unprecedented power in the Council to obtain repeated condemnations of Israel while blocking accountability for the genocide in Sudan or the examination of abuses in any other country. It has also used its power to enact repeated resolutions promoting the notion of Islam as a victim.

Moreover, although they do have a slight numerical majority, the Council's Free democracies are split. An informal "democratic alliance" of Canada, the 10 European democracies, and sometimes Japan and South Korea, generally have voted together to support positive initiatives and oppose counterproductive measures. However, the Council's other democracies—from Asia, Africa and Latin America—usually have sided with the non-democracies, out of regional group and other

20 LIN Watch Endorsements fo

²⁰ UN Watch Endorsements for Elections to the UN Human Rights Council, May 3, 2006 (available under "Reports" at www.unwatch.org). Thankfully, Iran—the fifth particular threat that we identified—failed in its bid for a Council seat.

²¹ The Free countries among the African Group members are Ghana, Mali, Mauritius, Senegal, and South Africa. The Free countries in the Asian Group are India, Indonesia, Japan, and South Korea.

bloc solidarity, as well as out of consideration of sizable domestic constituencies that are sympathetic to Islamic-sponsored texts.

HRC Treatment of Specific Countries

To date, the Council has passed resolutions on the human rights situations of only two specific countries. It has held three special sessions and adopted nine condemnatory resolutions against Israel, and it has held one special session and adopted three non-condemnatory resolutions on Sudan. None of the U.N.'s other 190 countries have been addressed in a special session or cited by a resolution.

The Council adopted by vote seven one-sided, OIC-sponsored resolutions condemning Israel for human rights violations without addressing other parties' violations and without acknowledging Israel's legitimate concerns. Many also were redundant to resolutions passed at the same time in the General Assembly. Canada voted "no" on all seven of these resolutions and the Council's European democracies opposed most of them.²²

After Canada was the sole opposing vote on the Islamic group's fifth and sixth censures of Israel, the OIC retaliated with an unexpected, last-minute motion to postpone the consideration of three theretofore non-controversial Canadian drafts. (Canada had solid reasons for its votes²³ and the OIC's politically-motivated tactic, supported by such abuser regimes as China, Cuba and Russia, resulted in the delay of two positive texts.²⁴)

²² All of the Council's European Union members except France (the Czech Republic, Finland, Germany, the Netherlands, Poland, Romania, and the United Kingdom) voted "no" to four of the anti-Israel resolutions, abstained on two, and voted "yes" to one. France voted "no" to three, abstained on three, and voted "yes" to one, as did Ukraine. Switzerland voted "no" to one, abstained on five, and voted "yes" to one. Japan was the only other country that opposed any of the anti-Israel resolutions; it voted "no" to three of them, abstained on three, and voted "yes" to one. The one resolution on which all of these countries voted "yes" is Resolution 2/4, concerning Israeli settlements.

²³ As the Canadian ambassador explained, the General Assembly in New York was adopting its own resolutions on both the Golan and Israeli settlements, and there was no legitimate reason to condemn Israel for the same matters in Geneva—especially when the Council already had passed multiple resolutions against Israel and many other pressing situations around the world remained unaddressed. In addition, both resolutions were unbalanced and did not recognize all victims of the conflict in the Middle East. To address Syrian-related issues in the HRC without addressing the nature of the Syrian police state, or its sponsorship of Hamas, Hezbollah and other enemies of peace, is inconsistent with the HRC's own principles of human rights, equality and universality.

²⁴ After further negotiations, one of the three Canadian texts (on the effective implementation of international human rights instruments) was adopted by the Council by consensus the following day, but Canada agreed to defer the other two to a later Council session. But it was the spoilers, and not Canada, that lost credibility because of this action. As the Geneva-based Press Emblem Campaign (PEC) noted, the OIC's "diplomatic tactics delaying action" on Canada's

The retaliatory motion to postpone passed by majority of 25 to 20, and was a telling statement: the Islamic group had proved it could pass any resolution at all—even a frivolous measure for which no substantive pretext had even been claimed. The minority who opposed the motion included Canada, the eight EU countries, Ghana, Guatemala, Japan, South Korea, Switzerland, Ukraine and Zambia, as well as Argentina, Brazil, Peru, and Uruguay, countries that supported the Islamic bloc on all of the anti-Israel resolutions.

The Council also enacted two OIC-sponsored resolutions against Israel by consensus. The first of these adopted the report of the HRC's Commission of Inquiry into Israeli actions in Lebanon (established at its second special session in August) and mandated the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights to undertake follow-up activities based on that report. The second criticized Israel for refusing to admit the investigatory missions established at the Council's first and third special sessions, both concerning Israeli military actions in Gaza. All three of these investigatory missions were compromised from the start. Each was mandated to examine Israeli conduct only—i.e., to disregard all Hamas and Hezbollah actions—and, moreover, the resolutions establishing them had already prejudged Israel's guilt. Because of this one-sidedness, Canada disassociated itself from consensus on both follow-up resolutions. For its part, the EU noted, in its explanations of vote on the follow-up resolutions, that it had been unable to support all three underlying resolutions because of their lack of balance. Argentina also said the same concerning the resolution on the Lebanon war.

Our criticism of the Council's nine resolutions against Israel is not to say that Israel's human rights record should be immune from criticism. To the contrary, Israel should be held accountable for its human rights abuses, as should every other UN member state. The problem is that at the Council, Israel is not treated like any other UN member state. The systematic demonization of Israelis—and dehumanization, with Syria telling the Council that Israelis are "invaders from the Planet Mars"—not only violates the equality principles of the UN Charter and of the Council itself, but directly causes the world's worst situations to go ignored.

The only other country that has been addressed by the Council has been Sudan. But a comparison of the Council's approach on Sudan to its approach on Israel illustrates the Council's pattern and practice of disparate treatment and discrimination. After widespread criticism of its exclusive focus on condemning Israel, including from major human rights groups and then-

freedom of opinion and expression text "further complicates the situation of journalists in the field who are the only losers. Journalist victims of targeted attacks in armed conflicts and elsewhere will carry the brunt of this delay."

Secretary-General Annan, the Council finally adopted a resolution addressing the crisis in the Sudanese province of Darfur, in late November. (By this point, the Council had held three special sessions and passed six resolutions against Israel.) The result was the adoption of a non-condemnatory, African Group-sponsored text. Canada, the eight EU members, Switzerland and Ukraine voted to oppose the text on the grounds that it was too weak.

Canada and the European Union, which had persistently urged the Council to address Darfur since June, had sought amendments to the African Group draft that, while still not condemning the government of Sudan for human rights violations in Darfur, would at least have emphasized its "primary obligation . . . to protect all individuals against violations." This proposal, however, was rejected in a close vote. Joining Canada and the EU in supporting the defeated proposal were Argentina, Ecuador, Ghana, Guatemala, Japan, Mexico, Peru, South Korea, Switzerland, Ukraine, and Uruguay.

In response to more public criticism, this time for the November resolution's soft approach toward Khartoum, the Council convened a mid-December special session on Darfur, initiated by Canada and Europe. But knowing that a strongly-worded measure would lose on a vote, the democracies had to settle for a compromise text acceptable to the Islamic, African, and Asian groups. As a result, the brief, 6-paragraph resolution was again non-condemnatory, merely expressing "concern regarding the seriousness of the human rights and humanitarian situation" in Darfur without giving any specifics, and urging "all parties" to sign and implement the Darfur peace agreement. (The Canadians and Europeans wanted to express "grave concern," but that was too strong for Sudan's defenders.) The well-documented facts about the ongoing atrocities in Darfur and Khartoum's involvement in them—including evidence presented to the Council by the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, the Office of the UN Coordinator for Humanitarian Affairs, the UN Population Fund, UNICEF, the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Refugees, humanitarian NGOs, and Darfur victims themselves—were completely ignored.

In fact, the word "violation" does not appear in the resolution at all. The OIC even rejected a Canadian and European proposal that the resolution's introduction should refer generally to the Council's power to address situations of human rights violations (using language taken verbatim from GA Resolution 60/251), because that would have "prejudged" Sudan.²⁵

²⁵ By contrast, consider an example of a Council resolution against Israel: the one from the second special session, in August, on "the grave situation of human rights in Lebanon caused by Israeli military operations." This OIC-sponsored text, which runs to 29 paragraphs, cited Israel for a long list of "gross and systematic," "massive," "grave," and "flagrant" "violations of the human rights of the Lebanese people" and "breach[es] of the principles of the Charter of the United Nations, international law and international humanitarian law." These include "the massacre of thousands of civilians, injuries, extensive damage to civilian infrastructure, displacement of one million people," "indiscriminate and

UN WATCH

The Council did agree at the special session to dispatch an assessment mission to Darfur, but only under terms that were extremely deferential to Sudan. Unlike the three previous special sessions, the resolution on Darfur did not find any human rights or humanitarian law violations but only a serious "situation." The investigatory mission was tasked to assess the human rights situation in Darfur—but also "the needs of the Sudan in this regard." In doing all of this, the mission was obliged "to consult as appropriate" with the government of Sudan. ²⁶ It could investigate all parties' actions, rather than just one side's. In addition, the Council President's selection of the mission's members required consultation with the Council, a majority of which had fought off any criticism of Sudan. As a result, unlike any previous mission, the Darfur mission's six members included the Geneva permanent representatives of two Council member states: the Ambassadors of Gabon and Indonesia, both of whom had a record of speaking and voting in Sudan's defense.

massive Israeli air strikes," "environmental degradation," "adverse impact on health," "targeting of the communication and media networks," and "continuing senseless killings by Israel, with impunity, of children, women the elderly and other civilians." The war between Israel and Hezbollah undisputedly had severe human rights and humanitarian consequences, but they were not caused only by Israel or suffered only by the Lebanese. Yet the resolution makes no mention of any action or violation by Hezbollah or its sponsors, or of the deaths, injuries, destruction of property, and displacement of Israelis. Canada, Japan and 9 European members opposed this unbalanced approach, and some other democracies abstained, but the resolution still passed—prompting a chorus of criticism of the Council's one-sidedness from major international human rights organizations. Amnesty International said that "members' focus on their narrow political objectives resulted in a highly-politicized resolution that muted the Council's voice by ignoring the violations of one party to the conflict" and that "failed to meet the principles of impartiality and objectivity expected" of the Council. Amnesty International, "Lebanon/Israel: Human Rights Council members put politics before lives," Press Release, August 11, 2006. Human Rights Watch said that "the one-sided approach . . . is a blow to [the Council's] credibility and an abdication of its responsibility to protect human rights for all. . . . Victims of human rights violations deserve better than the partisan fare that the Human Rights Council has offered so far." Human Rights Watch, "Lebanon/Israel: UN Rights Body Squanders Chance to Help Civilians," Press Release, August 11, 2006. Reporters Sans Frontières "condemn[ed] this use of the Council for political ends" and said that the Council, so far, had been "a repeat of the worst moments of the defunct Human Rights Commission . . . , with an automatic, blocking majority imposing its will and doing as it pleases," that is, "exploiting human rights for political ends." Reporters Sans Frontières, "Another sign of failure for Human Rights Council in resolution on Lebanon," Press Release, August 12, 2006. Human Rights First said that it was "deeply disappointed" by the Council's failure to respect its mandate to be universal, impartial, objective, and non-selective. Human Rights First, "UN Human Rights Council-Recent Resolution on Rights Violations in Lebanon Condemns Israel but Fails to Mention Hezbollah," Press Release, August 22, 2006.

²⁶ By contrast, the mission of "eminent experts on human rights law and international humanitarian law" established at the Council's August special session, which already had found Israel guilty of grave violations, was tasked "(a) To investigate the systematic targeting and killing of civilians by Israel in Lebanon; (b) To examine the types of weapons used by Israel and their conformity with international law; [and] (c) To assess the extent and deadly impact of Israeli attacks on human life, property, critical infrastructure and the environment."

Despite the presence of the government representatives, the Darfur mission's overall composition and mandate were fair and its establishment therefore seemed a positive step—particularly in light of Sudan's statements at the special session that it accepted the resolution and would admit the assessment team. The Khartoum government, however, reneged on these representations and barred the mission from Dafur, although the team, led by Nobel Peace Laureate Jody Williams, did travel to Ethiopia and to the Chad-Sudan border.

On March 16, 2007, the Williams team presented to the Council a detailed report finding the government of Sudan responsible for orchestrating and participating in "large-scale international crimes in Darfur," as well as citing other parties to the conflict for gross violations.²⁷ The report recommended specific action by the Council, the warring parties, and the international community to improve the situation and protect civilians in Darfur. In response, Sudan and its HRC allies—the OIC, the Arab League, almost all of the Asian Group, and Russia and Cuba—immediately rejected the Williams report as "invalid" on the grounds that the team had not gone to Darfur, and that one of its members had quit. Since Sudan and its allies were responsible for both, this was akin to the proverbial child who killed his parents and then demanded mercy from the court on grounds of being an orphan.

A two-week battle over how to treat the Williams report ensued, resulting in a meekly-worded compromise resolution that merely "took note" of the report without adopting its specific findings or recommendations. This resolution again failed to condemn, or even to cite, the Sudanese government or any other party to the conflict for abuses. It expressed "deep concern" about violations in Darfur—a slight improvement over the December resolution in which the word violation did not even appear—but it did not attribute those violations to any party. (An earlier European Union draft, although still not a condemnation, referred to attacks "by rebel and government forces," but those words were dropped to achieve consensus.) The resolution also deferred to Sudan by expressing regret that the Williams mission "could not visit Darfur," obscuring that it was the Khartoum government that denied them entry.²⁸

The resolution's one positive aspect is that it keeps the issue of Darfur on the Council's agenda—but only with the Council's typical deference to Sudan. It establishes a group of independent experts to "work with the Government of Sudan" and to report to the Council at its next session on how, "taking into account the needs of the Sudan," to "ensure the effective follow-

²⁷ When it became clear that the Williams report would be significantly different than the Islamic group's pro-Sudan positions, the Indonesian ambassador quit the mission.

²⁸ By contrast, the resolution on the two missions that Israel refused to admit expresses the Council's regret that "Israel, the occupying power, . . . hindered the dispatching of the urgent fact-finding missions. . . ."

up" and "foster the implementation" of unspecified UN "resolutions and recommendations" on Darfur—which we hope will include at least some of the suggestions of the Williams team's report.

For a recommendation-by-recommendation comparison of the Williams team's report and the Council's March resolution, see **Table 3:** the **HRC's Genocide Test and the Williams Report.** To see which countries spoke out to protect the victims in Darfur and which ones shielded the government of Sudan, including quotes from illustrative statements, see **Table 4:** the **HRC's Genocide Test and Members' Statements.**

Statements in the HRC on the World's Worst Abuses

Despite meeting for more than 10 weeks in 2006-2007, the Council failed to adopt a single resolution or decision, or make any other official statement, on the abuses of 18 of the 19 Freedom House 2006 "Worst of the Worst" human rights violating regimes. These regimes are: Belarus, Burma/Myanmar, China, Cuba, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Haiti, Laos, Libya, Morocco (for Western Sahara), North Korea, Russia (for Chechnya), Saudi Arabia, Somalia, Syria, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, and Zimbabwe. Its actions concerning the nineteenth Worst of the Worst regime, Sudan, have been weak at best.

In statements to the Council, some countries—both Council members and observers—did mention abuses by 11 of these 18 regimes, but unfortunately no country introduced a resolution or decision concerning any of them. For details on which of the Worst of the Worst regimes were mentioned by which countries, see **Table 5: Statements in the HRC on the World's Worst Abuses.**

HRC Response to Islamic Campaign on "Defamation of Religion"

Outraged by the September 2005 publication by a Danish newspaper of cartoons depicting the Prophet Mohammed, the Islamic states have been waging a campaign to obtain repeated UN condemnations of such perceived offenses to Islam, which it views as "incitement to religious hatred," defamation of the Muslim religion, and blasphemy.²⁹ While we agree with the OIC on the importance of promoting religious tolerance, the Islamic group's proposals on these issues have been objectionable because they privilege Islam alone among the world's religions, ignore

_

²⁹ In deference to the OIC, the Council's March 2006 founding resolution even affirms the media's "important role . . . in promoting tolerance, respect for and freedom of religion and belief" without referencing free speech concerns or condemning violence. The OIC's original proposal was to ban "actions against religions, prophets and beliefs."

countervailing individual rights issues, and do not recognize that violence is an inappropriate response to offense, whether by words or cartoon.

As part of this campaign, the OIC has pushed through two HRC resolutions—one at the Council's June 2006 inaugural session and another, with even worse language, at its most recent session in March 2007. While the brief June resolution simply mandated expert reports, ³⁰ the longer and more detailed March resolution urged legal measures to protect religions rather than individual believers, specifically mentioned only Islam, and stated that the right to freedom of expression may be limited out of "respect for religions and beliefs"—a qualification not present in international human rights law.³¹

Both resolutions were opposed by Canada, the eight EU members, Switzerland, Ukraine, and Japan. In addition, South Korea (which had been the sole abstention in June) and Guatemala voted "no" on the March resolution, and Argentina, Brazil, Ecuador, Ghana, India, Nigeria, Peru, Uruguay and Zambia abstained.

HRC Protection of Independent Human Rights Experts and Professionals

One positive aspect of the old Commission on Human Rights that the new Council has inherited is its system of Special Procedures: the independent human rights experts who investigate and report to the Council on human rights issues around the world. In its sessions to date, the Council has heard over 60 expert reports, many identifying serious human rights issues in countries

³⁰ With the Council's adoption of the June 2006 resolution, the Islamic states succeeded in commissioning reports meant to support their position that the religion of Islam and its practitioners are singular victims in today's world. The UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, the Special Rapporteur on racism, and the Special Rapporteur on freedom of religion were each charged with preparing reports on "incitement of religious hatred" and "defamation of religion," which were presented at the Council's September session. However, the joint report by the two rapporteurs discussed not only Islamophobia but also anti-Semitism and Christianophobia. In further defiance of the OIC's original design, the experts observed that international human rights law protects "primarily individuals in the exercise of their freedom of religion and not religions per se." They also noted that "criminalizing defamation of religion can be counterproductive." The High Commissioner's report included a reference to the incitement of hatred of non-Muslims in the Middle East, in particular "some very violent articles against Jews" in the Egyptian press. Consequently, while the March 2007 resolution "welcomed" the racism expert's report on "the situation of Muslims and Arabs in various parts of the world," it failed to even mention the joint report described above. Similarly, the OIC-dominated Council only "took note" of the High Commissioner's report, but did not "welcome" it, as is often the practice.

³¹ Article 19(3) of the International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights provides that freedom of expression may be limited only as necessary "for respect of the rights or reputations of others" or "for the protection of national security or of public order (ordre public), or of public health or morals." Paragraph 10 of the June resolution includes this language, but also adds an additional basis for limitation—"respect for religions and beliefs"—that does not appear in the article.

around the world which, in almost all cases, were the only attention that these situations received. To their great credit, the experts' reports have forced Council members at least to hear about human rights violations that they would rather ignore.

In its first year, the Council is reviewing the Special Procedures system to determine what, if any, changes to make to it.³² Predictably, the Council's abuser states view the review as an opportunity to limit the experts' independence and to minimize their ability to criticize individual countries for human rights problems. Thus, for example, Resolution 2/1, sponsored by the African Group and supported by such repressive regimes as China, Cuba, Russia, and Saudi Arabia, imposes on the experts a "code of conduct" to be drafted by Council member states. Canada, the eight EU members, Switzerland, Ukraine, Guatemala, Mexico, Peru, and South Korea opposed this resolution. In a similar vein, China and the "Like Minded Group" sponsored a resolution at the Council's March session that, although entitled "strengthening the United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights," in fact seeks to interfere with that office's independence. Canada, the 8 EU members, Switzerland, Ukraine, and Guatemala abstained on this text.

The abuser states are also campaigning vigorously to eliminate all of the independent experts who are mandated to investigate the actions of specific countries.³³ Exceptionally, these same states seek to indefinitely prolong the mandate on "Israeli violations in the occupied Palestinian territories," and to thereby preclude the regular review of the mandate's relevance to a changing situation. Although the issue will not be decided until June, thus far the Council's Western democracies have strongly opposed this damaging and unfair proposal.

Other Meaningful HRC Votes

The remaining two meaningful votes took place at the March 2007 session. The first was a resolution by China and the "Like Minded Group," a UN alliance of non-democratic regimes, that asserted, illogically, that globalization has a negative impact on *all* human rights and was adopted over the opposing votes of Canada, the 8 EU members, Switzerland, Ukraine, Japan, and South Korea. In the second, Cuba, on behalf of NAM, sponsored a resolution on the negative effects on human rights of "unilateral coercive measures," a thinly-veiled political jab at the United States for its trade embargo, which was gradually imposed in the early 1960's following Cuba's expropriation

__

³² The Council's founding resolution envisions that the Special Procedures will continue to exist in some form, although it does not specify the details.

³³ Currently, there are independent experts for the human rights situations in Belarus, Burundi, Cambodia, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of Congo, Haiti, Liberia, Myanmar, the Palestinian territories, Somalia, Sudan, and Uzbekistan. See http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/chr/special/countries.htm.

DAWN OF A NEW ERA? ASSESSING THE UN HUMAN RIGHTS COUNCIL

of properties privately owned by Americans. This resolution was opposed by Canada, the 8 EU members, Switzerland, Ukraine, and Japan, and South Korea abstained.

Ongoing HRC Institution Building

In addition to its review of the Special Procedures, before mid-June the Council also must complete its first-year review of the expert advice body³⁴ and the confidential complaints procedure³⁵ that it inherited from the Commission. In addition, it will have to decide its agenda, working methods, and rules of procedure. On all of these issues, it remains uncertain whether the Council will implement positive changes, preserve the status quo, or backtrack. The abuser regimes have been energetically seeking negative results throughout. They seek to limit the participation of non-governmental organizations (NGOs). They seek to restrict the independence of the High Commissioner and her professional colleagues.

Two possible setbacks in June give particular cause for alarm: the Council's elimination of many if not most of the country-specific rapporteurs, and its assent to the permanent singling out of Israel by adoption of a special agenda item. Either of these developments will constitute a major failure to comply with the basic principles of reform set forth by Secretary-General Annan.

The Council also is in the process of building a mechanism meant to review the human rights records of all countries equally, known as universal periodic review (UPR). If achieved, this would be a great improvement—but not surprisingly, the spoilers are trying their best to prevent the creation of any meaningful review.³⁶

³⁴ The Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights.

³⁵ The "1503" Procedure.

³⁶ In their view, the information on which the review is based would come only from the government of the country under review—not from individual victims, non-governmental organizations, the media, or even the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights. Developed countries would be reviewed more often than developing ones, and the review would vary based on each country's "religious and socio-cultural specificities." The review panel would be chaired by a country from the reviewed country's regional group, and NGOs would not be allowed to participate in the panel's discussion. And the review would never result in censure of the country. This would hardly be a review by any meaningful standard.

Recommendations

The Council's record to date is not encouraging, but we cannot yet give our final assessment of its first year. The body is still in the midst of its institution building, and it will hold its last session with the current membership from June 11 to 18. Room for improvement—or for further deterioration—remains. We hope that the conclusion of the institution-building process will not only bring improved mechanisms and procedures but also will free up time for more country situations to be addressed. If, however, the result is the adoption of the most damaging pending proposals—particularly the special agenda item singling out Israel, the abolishment of all the country monitors (but renewing indefinitely the one mandated to investigate "Israel's violations of the principles and bases of international law" in the Palestinian territories), and restrictions on the participation of NGOs—the prognosis for the Council will be grim.

The Council's human rights supporting states must now redouble their efforts to ensure that the HRC lives up to its promises. In particular, we urge the Council's free democracies to:

- Seek accountability for at least some of the world's most repressive regimes, including by
 introducing country-specific resolutions and, where appropriate, initiating special sessions.
 In addition, speak out more often and more strongly against the human rights violations of
 these regimes.
- Fight genocide by holding the government of Sudan accountable for the atrocities in Darfur and seek concrete action to protect civilians there. Begin by immediately implementing the recommendations of the Williams team's report.
- Hold Israelis and Palestinians alike accountable for their human rights records, while continuing to oppose repeated and one-sided resolutions against Israel. Support a balanced human rights approach consistent with the Council's founding principles of equality and non-selectivity and those of the UN-sponsored Road Map for Middle East Peace.
- Continue to support the creation of credible, effective mechanisms and procedures and to oppose the persistent anti-reform efforts of the Council's repressive regimes.
- Continue to act in support of democratic values, for example, by continuing to oppose the campaign by the Islamic states to limit speech that they deem offensive.
- Vote at the Council based on democratic values rather than on regional bloc and other group alliances, and seek to hold fellow Community of Democracies members to their

UN WATCH

commitment to work together to uphold democratic values and standards as a Democracy Caucus at the UN.

Later this month, the General Assembly will elect fourteen new Council members to three-year terms beginning when the next Council year starts in mid-June.³⁷ The election provides the opportunity for scrutiny of the candidates' qualifications. UN member states that support human rights and human rights organizations should make it clear to the candidates that, if elected, their performance as HRC members will be monitored and publicized and, if they are counter-productive, their re-election will be opposed. Likewise, current HRC members running for re-election who have been counter-productive at the Council should be opposed.

³⁷The election will be for 4 African Group seats, 4 Asian Group seats, 2 Eastern European Group seats, 2 GRULAC seats, and 2 WEOG seats.

Table 1: Key HRC Actions on Human Rights and Democracy

Symbol & Title	Sponsors	Content	Result	Desired Vote
A/HRC/1/106: Human rights situation in Palestine and other Occupied Arab Territories	11 Organization of the Islamic Conference (OIC, or Islamic Group) members and Cuba	Condemns Israel but ignores Palestinian violations Calls for expert reports with Israel prejudged as guilty Forces focus on Israel's conduct at every future Council meeting	Adopted 29-12-5 6/30/06	No
A/HRC/S-1/1: Human rights situation in the Occupied Palestinian Territory	14 Islamic Group members and Cuba	Condemns Israel for military actions in Gaza but ignores Hamas attack precipitating crisis Ignores ongoing Palestinian attacks on Israeli civilians Demands fact-finding mission to examine only Israeli conduct	Adopted 29-11-5 7/6/06	No
A/HRC/S-2/1: The grave situation of human rights in Lebanon caused by Israeli military operations	12 Islamic Group members and Cuba	Condemns only Israeli conduct; ignores Hezbollah's incursion into Israel, firing of rockets at Israeli civilians, and use of Lebanese civilians as human shields Creates inquiry commission to investigate only Israeli conduct Complicates Security Council peace effort	Adopted 27-11-8 8/11/06	No

UN WATCH

Symbol & Title	Sponsors	Content	Result	Desired Vote
A/HRC/S-3/1: Human rights violations emanating from Israeli military incursions in the Occupied Territory, including the recent one in Northern Gaza and the assault on Beit Hanoun	13 Islamic Group members, Cuba, and South Africa	Condemns Israel for "willful killing" of Palestinian civilians Ignores intentional killing of Israeli civilians by Palestinian groups Dispatches fact-finding mission to investigate Israel only	Adopted 32-8-6 11/15/06	No
A/HRC/2/3: Human rights in the Occupied Syrian Golan	8 Islamic Group members and Cuba	One-sided, ignores Syrian rejectionism and sponsorship of terrorism Redundant to 2 resolutions adopted this year by the General Assembly	Adopted 32-1-14 11/27/06	No
A/HRC/2/4: Israeli settlements in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, including East Jerusalem and in the Occupied Golan	11 Islamic Group members and Cuba	Unbalanced text ignores Palestinian terrorism and other violations Redundant to resolutions adopted this year by the General Assembly	Adopted 45-1-1 11/27/06	No
Motion to postpone consideration of Canada's draft resolutions on impunity and freedom of opinion and expression	Pakistan for the Islamic Group	Retaliates for Canada's no votes on two OIC resolutions	Adopted 25-20-2 11/28/06	No
A/HRC/3/1: Human rights situation in the Occupied Palestinian Territory: Follow-up on Res. S-1/1	11 Islamic Group members and Cuba	Requires Israel to comply with one-sided fact-finding mission	Adopted 34-1-12 12/8/06	No
A/HRC/3/3: Report of the Commission of Inquiry on Lebanon	Pakistan for the Islamic Group	Adopts and requires follow-up action on one-sided report	Adopted w/o vote 12/8/06	No
A/HRC/4/2: Human rights situation in the Occupied Palestinian Territory: follow-up to the Human Rights Council Res. S-1/1 and S-3/1	Algeria for the Arab Group and Pakistan for the Islamic Group	Criticizes Israel for refusing to cooperate with fact- finding missions that were deemed one-sided by major democracies and human rights groups	Adopted w/o vote 3/27/07	No

DAWN OF A NEW ERA? ASSESSING THE UN HUMAN RIGHTS COUNCIL

Symbol & Title	Sponsors	Content	Result	Desired Vote
A/HRC/2/115: Darfur (Draft decision L.44)	Algeria for the African Group	Fails to address Sudan's responsibility Praises Sudan for its "cooperation" and calls on international community to	Adopted 25-11-10 11/28/06	No
A/HRC/2/L.48: Darfur (Proposed amendments to draft decision L.44)	Canada and Finland (for the European Union)	give Sudan financial aid Emphasizes Sudan's "primary obligation" to protect all individuals against violations Asks High Commissioner to report to the Council on Darfur	Rejected 20-22-4 11/28/06	Yes
A/HRC/S-4/101: Darfur	Compromise text from competing African Group and Canada/EU drafts	Emphasizes seriousness of situation in Darfur and dispatches mission to assess situation	Adopted w/o vote 12/13/06	Yes
A/HRC/4/8: Follow-up to decision S-4/101 of 13 December 2006 adopted by the Human Rights Council at its fourth special session entitled "Situation of human rights in Darfur"	Compromise text from competing African Group and EU drafts	Does not cite any party to the conflict for abuses Does not adopt or implement assessment mission report Does not criticize Sudan for refusing to cooperate with assessment mission Keeps Darfur on the Council's agenda, but only with deference to Sudan	Adopted w/o vote 3/30/07	Abstain
A/HRC/1/107: Incitement to racial and religious hatred and the promotion of tolerance	6 Islamic Group members	Expresses concern about "incitement of racial and religious hatred" without acknowledging free speech considerations Asks for expert reports	Adopted 33-12-1 6/30/06	No

UN WATCH

Symbol & Title	Sponsors	Content	Result	Desired Vote
A/HRC/4/9: Combating defamation of religions	Pakistan for the Islamic Group	Specifically mentions only Islam and Muslims Does not state that violence is an inappropriate response to offense Says freedom of expression should be limited out of "respect for religions and beliefs." Does not acknowledge that human rights law protects individuals, not religions	Adopted 24-14-9 3/30/07	No
A/HRC/2/1: Intergovernmental Working Group on Review of Mandates	Algeria for the African Group	Imposes "code of conduct" on independent experts	Adopted 30-15-2 11/27/06	No
A/HRC/4/6: Strengthening the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights	China for the Like Minded Group (Algeria, Bangladesh, Belarus, Bhutan, China, Cuba, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Iran, Malaysia, Myanmar, Nepal, Pakistan, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Viet Nam, and Zimbabwe)	Seeks to impose "geographic rotation" as a priority in the appointment of future High Commissioners and "geographic balance" as a priority in staff hiring at all levels Seeks to limit independence of the High Commissioner by requiring her to report more often to the Council Asks the Office to give more emphasis to economic, social and cultural rights and the right to development	Adopted 35-0-12 3/30/07	No
A/HRC/4/5: Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights	China for the Like Minded Group	Suggests that all human rights are negatively effected by globalization	Adopted 34-13-0 3/30/07	No
A/HRC/4/103: Unilateral coercive measures	Cuba for the Non- Aligned Movement	Politically-motivated challenge to US trade embargo against Cuba	Adopted 32-12-1 3/30/07	No

Table 2: Scorecard of HRC Members on Key Actions

For the 20 key HRC actions shown in Table 1, we scored each Council member's position as positive (1), negative (-1) or neutral (0). The 47 Council member's scores are shown in descending order below, along with their regional and political group affiliations. The highest possible score is 20 and the lowest is -20.

Country	Score	Regional Group	Affiliation
Canada	14	WEOG	Juscanz
Czech Republic	10	EE	EU
Finland	10	WEOG	EU
Germany	10	WEOG	EU
Netherlands	10	WEOG	EU
Poland	10	EE	EU
Romania	10	EE	EU, G77
United Kingdom	10	WEOG	EU
France	9	WEOG	EU
Ukraine	9	EE	-
Switzerland	7	WEOG	-
Japan	5	Asia	Juscanz
Rep. of Korea	1	Asia	-
Guatemala	-3	GRULAC	NAM, G77
Cameroon	-8	Africa	OIC, NAM, G77
Ghana	-9	Africa	NAM, G77
Peru	-9	GRULAC	NAM, G77
Argentina	-10	GRULAC	-
Mexico	-10	GRULAC	-
Uruguay	-10	GRULAC	G77
Nigeria	-11	Africa	OIC, NAM, G77
Brazil	-12	GRULAC	G77
Djibouti	-12	Africa	OIC, AL, NAM, G77
Zambia	-12	Africa	NAM, G77
Ecuador	-13	GRULAC	NAM, G77
Gabon	-14	Africa	OIC, NAM, G77
Mauritius	-14	Africa	NAM, G77
Philippines	-14	Asia	LMG, NAM, G77
India	-15	Asia	LMG, NAM, G77
Tunisia	-15	Africa	OIC, AL, NAM, G77
Algeria	-16	Africa	OIC, LMG, AL, NAM, G77

Country	Score	Regional Group	Affiliation
Azerbaijan	-16	EE	OIC
Bahrain	-16	Asia	OIC, AL, NAM, G77
Bangladesh	-16	Asia	OIC, LMG, NAM, G77
China	-16	Asia	LMG, G77
Cuba	-16	GRULAC	LMG, NAM, G77
Indonesia	-16	Asia	OIC, LMG, NAM, G77
Jordan	-16	Asia	OIC, AL, NAM, G77
Malaysia	-16	Asia	OIC, LMG, NAM, G77
Mali	-16	Africa	OIC, NAM, G77
Morocco	-16	Africa	OIC, AL, NAM, G77
Pakistan	-16	Asia	OIC, LMG, NAM, G77
Russian Fed.	-16	EE	-
Saudi Arabia	-16	Asia	OIC, LMG, NAM, G77
Senegal	-16	Africa	OIC, NAM, G77
South Africa	-16	Africa	NAM, G77
Sri Lanka	-16	Asia	LMG, NAM, G77

KEY

AL: Arab League
EU: European Union
G77: Group of 77 (developing nations)
Juscanz: Japan-US-Canada-Australia-New Zealand
LMG: Like-Minded Group
NAM: Non-Aligned Movement NAM: Non-Aligned Movement OIC: Organization of the Islamic Conference

Table 3: The HRC's Genocide Test and the Williams Report

Can the HRC pass the basic test of fighting genocide? Darfur is that test. In December 2006, the HRC dispatched a "High-Level Mission," led by Nobel Peace Laureate Jody Williams, to assess the human rights situation in Darfur, Sudan. The Williams mission's report, presented to the HRC on March 16, 2007, found the government of Sudan responsible for orchestrating and participating in "large- scale international crimes in Darfur," and also cited other parties to the conflict for gross human rights and humanitarian law violations. The report made a number of specific recommendations to improve the situation and protect civilians. Many democracies and a coalition of 60 NGOs, led by UN Watch, urged the HRC to fully adopt and implement the Williams report. Sudan and its allies, however, called the report "invalid" and urged its rejection.

On March 30, 2007, the HRC passed a resolution purporting to take "follow up" action on the Williams mission's report. Yet as shown in the chart below, this resolution neither adopted the findings nor implemented the recommendations of the Williams team's report.

Williams Report	March 30, 2007 HRC Resolution
The HRC should speak out against Sudan's "manifest failure in its responsibility to protect civilians." The HRC should "condemn the continuing violations" by all parties. The report found	Not mentioned. Instead, recalls that the Sudanese government has "expressed its readiness to improve the human rights situation in Darfur." No condemnation and no reference to any party to the conflict. Instead, merely "[e]xpresses its
 "large-scale international crimes," committed primarily by the Government of Sudan and its affiliated Janjaweed militias, as well as by rebel groups, including: widespread killing of civilians, including in large-scale attacks; widespread and systematic rape and sexual violence; torture; arbitrary arrest and detention, 	deep concern regarding the seriousness of the ongoing violations of human rights and international humanitarian law in Darfur, including armed attacks on the civilian population and humanitarian workers, widespread destruction of villages, and continued and widespread violence, in particular gender-based violence against women and girls, as well as the lack of accountability of perpetrators of such crimes."
 repression of political dissent and arbitrary restrictions on political freedoms; and ineffective mechanisms of justice and accountability. 	The EU proposal had included the words "by rebel and government forces" after "armed attacks," but this was deleted to achieve consensus. An earlier EU draft had said "bombing", not "widespread destruction," of villages, but this presumably was too pointedly directed at the government of Sudan, the only party to the conflict with planes.

Williams Report	March 30, 2007 HRC Resolution
The HRC should "call for effective protection for civilians, accountability for perpetrators (including through action by the [International Criminal Court]) and compensation and redress for victims." The HRC should "establish a dedicated procedure or mechanism to monitor the situation of human rights in Darfur, to measure the degree of implementation of outstanding [UN] recommendations and to report regularly to the Council." This mechanism "should work in close cooperation with the [HRC's independent expert on Sudan] whose mandate should be extended as required."	No references to accountability, compensation or redress. Instead, simply "[c]alls upon all parties to the conflict in Darfur to put an end to all acts of violence against civilians [and] humanitarian workers." Also "[c]alls upon the signatories of the Darfur Peace Agreement to comply with their obligations under the agreement, acknowledges the measures already taken towards its implementation and calls upon non-signatory parties" to sign. Decides to convene a group of seven of the independent UN human rights experts, presided over by the independent expert on Sudan, to: "work with the government of Sudan, the appropriate human rights mechanisms of the African Union, and to closely consult with the Chairman of the Darfur-Darfur Dialogue and Consultation [a group envisioned by the Darfur Peace Agreement]," "ensure the effective follow-up and foster the implementation of [UN] resolutions and recommendations on Darfur , taking into account the needs of Sudan in this regard, to safeguard the consistency of these recommendations and to contribute to monitoring the human rights situation on the ground;" and report to the HRC at its 5th (June 2007)
The HRC should "call for and actively support the establishment of a credible, independent national human rights commission for the Sudan."	session. Not mentioned.

Williams Report	March 30, 2007 HRC Resolution
The Sudanese Government should cease all	Not mentioned.
violations and fully comply with its international	
obligations, including:	
"cooperat[ing] fully in the deployment of	
the proposed UN/AU	
peacekeeping/protection force without further delay";	
"remov[ing] all obstacles to the delivery of humanitarian assistance;"	
"ensur[ing] the free and safe movement of human rights monitors;"	
"afford[ing] full cooperation to the International Criminal Court;"	
fully implementing "all UN Security Council	
and AU Peace and Security Council	
resolutions , including those relating to	
travel bans and the freezing of funds, assets,	
and economic resources of those who	
commit violations;"	
"fully implement[ing] the many	
recommendations of United Nations human	
rights mechanisms and inquiries, still	
outstanding;"	
"facilitat[ing] the safe return of refugees and	
[internally displaced persons]" and	
 ensuring that its domestic laws and policies 	
comply with both its Interim National	
Constitution and international human rights	
standards.	
The Security Council should "ensure the	Not mentioned.
effective protection of the civilian population of	
Darfur, including through the deployment of the	
proposed UN/AU peacekeeping/protection	
force and full cooperation with and support for	
the International Criminal Court." The General Assembly should "request the	Not mentioned.
	Not mentioned.
compilation of a list of foreign companies that have an adverse impact on the situation of	
human rights in Darfur" and "call upon all UN	
institutions and offices to abstain from entering	
into business transactions with any of the	
identified companies."	

Williams Report	March 30, 2007 HRC Resolution
UN member states should "urgently provide	Not mentioned.
adequate funding and support for the UN	
support package to the [African Union Mission	
in Sudan], for the deployment of the proposed	
UN/AU peacekeeping/protection force, for	
adequate numbers of international human rights	
monitors, for the continuing humanitarian needs	
of Darfur, for the establishment of a credible	
independent national human rights commission,	
and for programmes of compensation and	
redress for victims in Darfur."	
UN member states should "be prepared to	Not mentioned.
prosecute individuals suspected of committing	
war crimes and crimes against humanity in	
Darfur through the exercise of universal	
jurisdiction in national courts outside of the	
Sudan."	
UN member states should "call for, support and	Not mentioned.
facilitate the convening of a national conference	
on peace, human rights, and a common vision	
for the Sudan."	
UN member states should "organize a regional	Not mentioned.
conference, under the auspices of the UN and	
the AU on the safeguarding and promotion	
of peace and human rights in the region."	

Table 4: The HRC's Genocide Test and Members' Statements

The following table reveals which countries have spoken out in the Council for Darfur's victims—and who for the perpetrators.

Session	Countries defending Darfur victims	Countries defending Sudan
First regular	Canada	
session	France	
	Netherlands	
	Finland (EU)	
Second	Finland (EU)	Jordan
regular	South Korea	Algeria (African Group)
session	Japan	Pakistan (Islamic Group)
	Canada	Bangladesh
	Switzerland	Egypt
	UK	China
	France	Cuba
	Peru	Morocco
		Indonesia
		Bahrain (Arab League)
Third	Finland (EU)	Algeria (African Group)
regular	Germany	Indonesia
session	South Korea	Morocco
	Canada	Bahrain (Arab League)
	France	Azerbaijan
	UK	Cuba
	Netherlands	
	Ecuador	
	Poland	
Fourth	Zambia	Algeria
special	Finland (EU)	Cuba
session on	Germany	Pakistan (Islamic Group)
Darfur	Switzerland	Saudi Arabia (Arab League)
	Romania	Indonesia
	France	Malaysia
	UK	Morocco
	Argentina	Tunisia
	Poland	Russia
	Canada	India
	Netherlands	Bahrain
	Japan	Brazil
	Senegal	Azerbaijan
		Bangladesh
		Jordan

Session	Countries defending Darfur victims	Countries defending Sudan
Fourth	Germany (EU)	Algeria (Arab Group)
regular	Zambia	Pakistan (Islamic Group)
session	Japan	Sri Lanka (Asian Group)
	France	Indonesia
	Netherlands	Bangladesh
	Ghana	China
	Argentina	Saudi Arabia
	South Korea	Russia
	UK	Cuba
	Finland	Malaysia
	Poland	Algeria
	Canada	India
	Senegal	Azerbaijan
	Mexico	Bahrain
	Switzerland	Tunisia
	Brazil	Philippines
	Nigeria	Jordan
	Uruguay	
	Peru	
	Czech Republic	
	Cameroon	
	Mauritius	
Illustrative	Zambia, December 12, 2006:	Pakistan for the Islamic Group,
statements	"My delegation does not see anything wrong in	September 27, 2006:
	having a UN force in Darfur. All of us, including	"We commend the Sudanese
	Sudan, are members of the United Nations, and	government for its unceasing efforts
	therefore we find it difficult to comprehend why	to ameliorate the situation in the
	we should have any fear of our own	Darfur region The Sudanese
	organizationHow many more people must die	government has also cooperated
	before we allow concrete action to be taken to	with the international community,
	stop the carnage, including the reported rape cases	including the Security Council,
	in Darfur? How many meetings must be held	international and regional human
	before we allow real action to be taken to serve	rights mechanisms, besides giving
	the people of Darfur?"	unprecedented access to NGOs and
	Netherlands, December 12, 2006:	civil society organizations."
	"Despite Sudanese claims, in this room, that its	Algoria on hohalf of the African
	government does not have links with the Janjaweed, there is overwhelming evidence that	Algeria on behalf of the African Group, November 29, 2006:
		"The alleged links, and I say the
	the government actively supports these irregular forces. Significantly, the SAF does little to hide	alleged links, between the government
	their actions in this regard. It is clear to observers	of Sudan and militias referred to by
	in the field that the government is bringing	the High Commissioner for Human
	increasing numbers of forces to Darfur,	Rights have yet to be objectively
	incorporates Janjaweed in its own paramilitary	documented."
	forces, and is arming Janjaweed instead of	a damented.
	101000, and is ariting Janjaweed mistead of	

Session	Countries defending Darfur victims	Countries defending Sudan
SCSSION	disarming them. Despite the signing of the Darfur Peace Agreement, the government has continued to violate this agreement."	Bahrain on behalf of the Arab Group, November 29, 2006: "The Sudanese government is fighting for peace and stability in Darfur."

Table 5: Statements in the HRC on the World's Worst Abuses

The chart below shows that the HRC has failed to adopt resolutions regarding 18 out of the 19 worst human rights abusers. When countries did speak out in the form of speeches, the statements tended to be weak.

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries introducing resolutions
Belarus	Repression of political dissent Media censorship Severe restrictions on freedom of association Systematic use of torture	Canada, noting "a decline" in the human rights situation" in Belarus, Sept. 27, 2006 Finland, for the EU, expressing "regret" over Belarus's refusal to cooperate with the UN Special Rapporteur, Sept. 29, 2006 Lithuania, "regretting" Belarus' lack of cooperation with the UN, Sept. 27, 2006 United States, regretting the "obstructionist tactics" by Belarus, Sept. 29, 2006 France, noting the ongoing "violations" of human rights in Belarus, Mar. 12, 2007 Netherlands, expressing "deep concern" about arbitrary arrests and harassment of non-governmental groups in Belarus, Mar. 29, 2007	None
Burma/Myanmar	Persecution of political activists and ethnic and religious minorities Media censorship Severe restrictions on freedom of association	Italy, expressing "deep concern" over the human rights situation in Burma, June 19, 2006 Switzerland, asking the High Commissioner her plans to "step upefforts" on Burmese authorities to address the human rights situation in the country, June 23, 2006 Austria, for the EU, calling on Burma "to release Daw Aung San Suu Kyi and1,150 [other] political prisoners," June 26, 2006 United States, noting "with concern" the situation of Aung San Su Kyi, June 26, 2006 Australia, calling on Burma to free political prisoners and respect human rights, Sept. 27, 2006	None

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries introducing resolutions
		Canada, expressing "concern" over the deteriorating human rights situation in Burma, and "not[ing] with concern" Burma's lack of cooperation with UN human rights mechanisms, Sept. 27, 2006	
Burma/ Myanmar (cont'd)		Finland , for the EU , expressing "sorrow" that the Special Rapporteur on Burma was not permitted to visit the country, Sept. 27, 2006	
		New Zealand, noting "with deep concern" the human rights situation in Burma, Sept. 27, 2006	
		Finland , for the EU , calling on Burma to stop the use of child soldiers, Dec. 1, 2006	
		France, noting human rights "violations" in Burma, Mar. 12, 2007	
		United Kingdom, noting "suffering" in Burma, Mar. 13, 2007	
		Germany , for the EU, expressing "concern" over the UN's findings in Burma, Mar. 14, 2007	
		United States, calling on Burma to stop "human rights violations," Mar. 21, 2007	
		Australia, stating that it "remained concerned" about the human rights situation in Burma, Mar. 23, 2007	
		Canada, expressing "worry" over impunity in Burma, Mar. 23, 2007	
		Japan, raising "concerns" about the human rights situation in Burma, Mar. 23, 2007	
		Netherlands, stating that it had received "worrying reports" about denials of religious freedom in Burma, Mar. 23, 2007	
		United States, calling Burma "one of the most repressive regimes," Mar. 23, 2007	

UN WATCH

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries introducing resolutions
China	Media censorship Repression of political dissent Ongoing human rights violations in occupied Tibet Severe restrictions on freedom of association	Netherlands, calling internet censorship in China "worrying," Mar. 27, 2007 Canada "not[ing] with concern" the lack of legal rights afforded to defendants in China, Mar. 28, 2007	None
Cuba	Media censorship Imprisonment of journalists and pro-democracy advocates Government economic control	United States, labeling Cuba an "autocratic regime," June 20, 2006 Finland, for the EU, calling on Cuba to remove restrictions on freedom of speech, 26 Sept. 2006 United States, calling Cuba a "repressive regime [that] poses a threat to regional stability [and] violates fundamental rights of its people," 26 Sept. 2006	None
Equatorial Guinea	Media censorship Restrictions on freedom of association Abuse of ethnic minorities by vigilante groups with impunity Widespread violence against women	None found	None
Eritrea	Media censorship Persecution of political activists and religious minorities Widespread use of torture, arbitrary detention, and political arrests	Germany , for the EU , noting violations of religious freedom and "other violations" in Eritrea, Mar. 27, 2007	None

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries
			introducing
Haiti	Arbitrary arrests and	Chile, expressing "concerns" about the human rights	resolutions None
паш	Arbitrary arrests, and extrajudicial killings	situation in Haiti, Nov. 29, 2006	None
	Systematic use of torture Severe police corruption	Costa Rica, labeling the human rights situation in Haiti as "deteriorating," Nov. 29, 2006	
		Philippines, "not[ing] with concern" the human rights situation in Haiti, Nov. 29, 2006	
Laos	Severe media censorship	None found	None
	Oppression of religious minorities		
	Corrupt judiciary		
Libya	Suppression of political activity	None found	None
	Highly politicized judicial proceedings		
	Media censorship		
Morocco (Western	Media censorship	Algeria, calling "the fate of human rights defenders"	None
Sahara)	Political repression	in Western Sahara "a real issue," June 26, 2006	
	Tonucar repression	Algeria, calling Western Sahara the "last colony" of	
5		Africa, Mar. 12, 2007	2.7
Democratic People's Republic	Severe political repression	United States, describing the DPRK as one of many "serious human rights situations," June 26, 2006	None
of Korea	Horrific prison conditions	serious muman rights situations, June 20, 2000	
(North Korea)	Systematic use of torture	Canada, criticizing the DPRK's "unwillingness to fully cooperate" with the international community on	
		human rights issues, Sept. 26, 2006	
	Severe media censorship	Japan, calling reports of human rights violations in	
	Forced labor	the DPRK "reliable" and "severe," Sept. 26, 2006	
	Forced prostitution	Australia, expressing "deep concern" at the "serious situation" in the DPRK, Sept. 27, 2006	
		Canada, noting the "gap" between recognition and implementation of human rights in the DKRP, Sept. 27, 2006	

UN WATCH

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries introducing resolutions
DPRK/N. Korea (cont'd)		Finland, for the EU "deplor[ing]" the DPRK's refusal to cooperate with the UN Special Rapporteur, Sept. 27, 2006 South Korea, calling the situation in the DPRK "very difficult," Sept. 27, 2006 United States, "deplor[ing[the systematic violations of human rights" in the DPRK, Sept. 27, 2006 Peru, regretting the DPRK unwillingness to cooperate with the UN Special Rapporteur, Sept. 27, 2006 Japan, noting the continuing "serious human rights violations," Mar. 12, 2007 Australia, noting "serious reports of human rights violations," Mar. 23, 2007 Canada, saying it was "troubled by reports" of torture and harsh punishment of DPRK citizens, Mar. 23, 2007 Germany, for the EU, noting violations of religious freedom and "other violations," Mar. 27, 2007 United States, saying it was "deeply concerned" by the human rights situation in the DPRK, Mar. 23, 2007	
Russia (Chechnya)	Widespread war crimes against civilians Political repression	None found	None
Saudi Arabia	Systematic repression of women and non-Muslims Regular use of severe corporal punishment Use of torture and prison abuse	None found	None

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries introducing
			resolutions
Somalia	Severe political corruption	None found	None
	Media censorship and restrictions		
	restrictions		
	Continued use of		
	extrajudicial killing, torture,		
0 1	and arbitrary detention	0 7511 4	A1 . C .1
Sudan	Sponsoring acts of genocide in the Darfur region	See Table 4	Algeria, for the African Group
	in the Darith region		Airican Group
	Media censorship and		Canada
	restrictions		
	6 . 6 15. 1		Finland, for the
	Suppression of political activity		EU
Syria	Use of assassinations as a	Israel, accusing Syria of sponsoring terrorism and	None
•	political tool	undermining democratic governments, Nov. 27, 2006	
	Madia annualis and	T1 Wing Coming (Grand Coming of Coming o	
	Media censorship and restrictions	Israel, calling Syria a "repressive regime" that "harbors terrorist organizations" and "sponsors	
		Hezbollah," Sept. 29, 2006	
	Suppression of political		
	activity	United States, stating that Syria "continues to work	
	Severe restrictions on	to destabilize Lebanon," Dec. 1, 2006	
	freedom of association		
Turkmenistan	Suppression of political	None found	None
	activity		
	Severe restrictions on		
	freedom of association		
	ireccom or association		
	Forced relocation of ethnic		
	minorities		
	Severe restrictions on		
	freedom of movement		
	Heedom of movement		

UN WATCH

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries
			introducing resolutions
Uzbekistan	Continued impunity regarding the Andijan massacre Intimidation of and violence against journalists and civil society activists Repression of political activity Severe media censorship	Germany, for the EU, noting violations of religious freedom and "other [human rights] violations" in Uzbekistan, Mar. 27, 2007 United States, noting violations of "civil and political" rights, Mar. 28, 2007	None
Zimbabwe	Violence and intimidation of journalists and government opposition Forced relocation of citizens Media censorship	Finland, for the EU, expressing "concern" over forced mass evictions in Zimbabwe, Sept. 25, 2006 Australia, stating that it shares "deep concern" at the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 Chile, stating that it "continues to be concerned" by the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 Germany, saying it was "disturbed" by recent developments in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 France, expressing "grave concern," over the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 Ireland, saying it was "deeply concerned" at the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 Luxembourg, expressing concern "about the ill treatment of opposition leaders in Zimbabwe," Mar. 29, 2007 Portugal, saying it was "deeply concerned" about the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 Hungary, saying it was "very concerned" about the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 Slovakia, stating that it was "deeply concerned" by the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29,	None

Abuser	Abuses	Countries making statements	Countries introducing resolutions
Zimbabwe (cont'd)		Sweden, noting that human rights are being "seriously violated" in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 United Kingdom, expressing concern over the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007 United States, saying it was deeply concerned" by the human rights situation in Zimbabwe, Mar. 29, 2007	

Table 6: HRC Voting Record

	1/106 HR in Palestine	S-1/1 HR in OPT	S-2/1 HR in Lebanon	S-3/1 Beit Hanoun	2/3 Syrian Golan	2/4 Israeli settle- ments	3/1 OPT follow- up	3/3 Lebanon Report	4/2 OPT in the second of the s	2/115 Darfur (AG)	2/L.48 S Darfur (EU)	S-4/101 Darfur (SS) fo	4/8 Darfur follow-up	1/107 Incite- ment r	2/1 WG on mandates	Motion to postpone	4/9 Defama- tion of religions	4/6 OHCHR	4/5 Globali- zation	4/103 Unilateral Coercive measures
Algeria	Y	7	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	X	>	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	X	Y	Y	Y	Y
Argentina	7	Y	Y	Y	Y	×	Y	×	Y	A	7	Y	7-	×	<	z	A	×	Y	Y
Azerbaijan	¥	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	¥	¥	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Bahrain	Y	Y	Y	Y	7	Y	7	7	7	Y	z	Y	>-	×	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Bangladesh	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	¥	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Brazil	¥	Y	Y	Y	¥	×	7	¥	Y	7	A	Y	×	Y	¥	Z	A	¥	Y	Y
Cameroon	A	А	A	Z	A	Α	A	Y	Y	g	NP	Y	Y	Y	X	Y	Y	X	Y	Y
Canada	Z	Z	Z	Z	Z	z	Z	Y	Y	Z	¥	¥	Y	z	Z	Z	Z	A	Z	Z
China	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Cuba	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	z	Y	7	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Czech Republic	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Y	A	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	V	Z	Z
Djibouti	NP	ď	NP	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	¥	z	¥	¥	ďZ	¥	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Ecuador	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	V	X	Y	Y
Finland	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	¥	A	Y	Y	Z	¥	¥	Y	z	Z	Z	Z	A	Z	Z
France	Z	Z	Z	Α	A	Y	A	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	V	Z	Z
Gabon	Y	ZP	Α	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Germany	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Y	A	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Z	Z
Ghana	Α	Y	Α	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Α	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Α	Y	Y	Y
Guatemala	V	Y	A	A	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	V	Y	Y
India	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y
Indonesia	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Japan	Z	Z	Z	Α	Α	Y	A	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Z	Z	Y	Z	Z
Jordan	X	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	X	X	Y	X	Y	Y
Malaysia	Y	Y	Y	Y	¥	¥	Y	Y	Y	×	z	X	¥	¥	¥	Y	Y	X	Y	Y
Mali	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y

	1/106	S-1/1	S-2/1	S-3/1	2/3	2/4	3/1	3/3	4/2	2/115	2/L.48	S-4/101	4/8	1/107	2/1		4/9	4/6	4/5	4/103
	HR in Palestine	HR in OPT	HR in Lebanon	Beit Hanoun	Syrian Golan	Israeli settle- ments	OPT follow- up	Lebanon Report	OPT follow- up	Darfur (AG)	Darfur (EU)	Darfur (SS) fr	Darfur follow-up	Incite-	WG on mandates	Motion to postpone	Defama- tion of religions	OHCHR	Globali- zation	Unilateral Coercive measures
Mauritius	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	А	Α	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Y
Mexico	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	A	Y	Y	Y	Y
Morocco	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Netherlands	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Y	A	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Z	Z
Nigeria	A	A	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	NP
Pakistan	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Peru	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	A	Y	Y	Y
Philippines	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Poland	Z	Z	z	Z	A	Y	V	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Z	Z
Rep. of Korea	Α	A	A	A	Α	Y	Y	Y	Y	A	Y	Y	Y	A	Z	Z	Z	Y	Z	Α
Romania	Z	Z	Z	Z	Α	Y	Α	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Z	Z
Russian Fed.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Saudi Arabia	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Senegal	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
South Africa	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Sri Lanka	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Switzerland	Z	A	Α	Α	Α	Y	Α	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	Α	Z	Z
Tunisia	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NP
Ukraine	Z	Z	Z	A	V	Y	A	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Z	Z
Unit. Kingdom	Z	Z	Z	Z	A	Y	A	Y	Y	Z	Y	Y	Y	Z	Z	Z	Z	V	Z	Z
Uruguay	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Α	Y	Y	Y	Y	Α	Z	Α	Y	Y	Y
Zambia	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Α	A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Z	A	Y	Y	Y

About UN Watch

UN WATCH is a non-governmental organization dedicated to monitoring the United Nations according to the principles of its Charter and to promoting human rights worldwide. Based in Geneva, UN Watch was founded in 1993 by the late Morris B. Abram, a leading advocate of the U.S. civil rights movement and former U.S. ambassador to the UN in Geneva. Board members include Chair Alfred H. Moses, former U.S. Ambassador to Romania and Presidential Emissary for the Cyprus Conflict, Co-Chair Per Ahlmark, former Deputy Prime Minister of Sweden, and human rights advocates and scholars from around the globe. Affiliated with the American Jewish Committee, UN Watch stands at the forefront in the struggle against anti-Semitism at the UN, and has been a leading voice for victims of genocide in Sudan, religious persecution in China and on many other causes. It is accredited by the UN as a NGO in Special Consultative Status with the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC). Major media such as the New York Times, the BBC, Reuters, Le Figaro, and Die Welt regularly turn to UN Watch for comment and analysis on UN affairs.

About the Authors

HILLEL C. NEUER is the Executive Director of UN Watch. He speaks regularly in the UN Human Rights Council and recently testified about the Council as an expert witness before a hearing of the U.S. Congress. Neuer is a frequent contributor on human rights, law and international affairs for such publications as the International Herald Tribune, the Christian Science Monitor, Juriste International and The New Republic Online, and has been featured on CNN, the BBC and FOX News. He holds four degrees in law and politics.

ELIZABETH K. CASSIDY is the Assistant Executive Director of UN Watch. She holds a B.A. in international politics from Wesleyan University, a J.D. from American University, and an LL.M in comparative constitutional law from the University of Stellenbosch. Before joining UN Watch, she taught courses in constitutional, comparative and international human rights law at the University of Namibia, Princeton University, and Seton Hall University School of Law, and worked as a legal consultant on law reform and women's rights issues for two Namibian human rights NGOs.

Research assistance was provided by UN Watch Fellows Toby Frankenstein, Caroline Gross, and Leon Saltiel.

Contact Information

United Nations Watch Case Postale 191 1211 Geneva 20 Switzerland www.unwatch.org tel: +41-22-734-1472

fax: +41-22-734-1613

